

Evolution of Carbon Compounds during Municipal Solid Waste Composting: Suitability of Chemical and Biochemical Parameters in Defining the Stability and Maturity of the End Product

Paola Castaldi^{1*} • Giovanni Garau² • Pietrino Deiana² • Pietro Melis¹

¹ Dipartimento di Scienze Ambientali Agrarie e Biotecnologie Agro-Alimentari (DiSAABA). Sez. di Chimica Agraria – University of Sassari, Italy ² Dipartimento di Scienze Ambientali Agrarie e Biotecnologie Agro-Alimentari (DiSAABA). Sez. di Microbiologia Generale ed Applicata – University of Sassari, Italy Concernentino autore a contraligencia e statica e sta

 ${\it Corresponding\ author: *\ castaldi@uniss.it}$

ABSTRACT

In this review we discuss the transformation of organic matter during municipal solid waste (MSW) composting and the suitability of chemical and biochemical parameters in defining the stability and maturity of the end product. The dynamics of chemical and biochemical parameters, such as several hydrolase activities and water-soluble fractions (i.e. water soluble carbon, water soluble nitrogen, water soluble carbohydrate) during MSW composting is discussed along with their suitability as tools for compost characterization. Besides, the evolution during the MSW process of the molecular structure of humic acid (HA), based on Fourier transform infrared (FTIR), ¹³C NMR spectroscopy and thermal analysis, is also discussed. The data presented highlight the suitability of several enzymatic activities and water soluble fractions as indicators of the evolution of the organic matter during MSW composting. However, since the extent of each enzyme activity at the end of composting depends on the starting material used, single point determinations appear inadequate for compost characterization. Moreover, the importance of the characterization of the dynamics of enzymatic activities and water-soluble fractions during MSW composting. Thermoanalitical analyses (TG/DTG and DSC curves) also revealed valuable in order to characterize the organic matter during composting and distinguish between well and poorly stabilized organic matter.

Keywords: MSW compost, enzymatic activities, water soluble fractions, FTIR spectroscopy, ¹³C NMR spectroscopy, thermal analysis Abbreviations: DSC, differential scanning calorimetry; DTG, differential thermogravimetry; FTIR, Fourier Transform-Infrared; HA, humic acid; MSW, municipal solid waste; NMR, nuclear magnetic resonance; OM, organic matter; TG, thermogravimetry; WS, water soluble

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
THE COMPOSTING PROCESS	
EVOLUTION OF CHEMICAL AND BIOCHEMICAL PARAMETERS DURING THE MSW COMPOSTING PROCESS	
рН	
Total Organic Carbon (TOC)	
Nitrogen forms	
Carbon/nitrogen ratio (C/N ratio)	
Water-soluble fractions	
Humic substances	
Enzymatic activities	
Thermal analyses	
Fourier transform-infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy	
¹³ C nuclear magnetic resonance (¹³ C NMR) spectroscopy	
CONCLUSIONS	
REFERENCES	

INTRODUCTION

Soil organic matter (OM) is universally recognized to be among the most important factors responsible for soil structure, water holding capacity, pH buffering, complexing ions, crop production, and land protection from contamination, erosion and desertification (Wilson 1991; Piccolo 1996; Senesi *et al.* 2007; El Hajjouji *et al.* 2008). Crop residues and animal manure have been conventionally applied to agricultural soil as a means of maintaining, or increasing, OM content and fertility status. However, as a result of adverse climatic conditions and unsustainable soil management practices (such as the extensive use of chemical fertilizers and the over-exploitation of the soil resource), a growing scarcity of OM has been recently recorded in soils of many Mediterranean regions. This has led to the search for new and cheap sources of OM able to replace the losses caused by mineralization and crop production (Hernández *et al.* 2006), stabilise and protect the soil, and reduce the application of chemical fertilizers.

Received: 31 March, 2009. Accepted: 6 July, 2009.

On the other hand, recent estimates suggested that the municipal solid waste (MSW) alone exceeded (at a global level) 2 billion tonnes per year at the beginning of the new millennium (e.g. Giusti 2009). Particularly, in 2006 the 15 countries of the European Union generated 219 million tonnes of MSW (OECD 2008). The large amounts of MSW produced in the modern society, as well as their disposal, have a profound socio-economic and environmental impact. The most important European legislation dealing with organic waste recycling is the "Directive on the Biological Treatment of Biological Waste" (European Commission 2001). This Directive is aimed at promoting the biological treatment of biodegradable waste (i.e. through composting and anaerobic digestion) and help meet the Landfill Directive targets (Council Directive of the European Union 1999). Based on the "Directive on the Biological Treatment of Biological Waste" only treated biowastes would be allowed for spreading on land, except for those untreated biowastes specifically mentioned in this Directive such as vegetable plant wastes.

In principle, MSW could be applied, as organic amendment, to agricultural soils and used for the rehabilitation of degraded areas. However, the direct use of these wastes as they are may be critical because the presence of xenobiotics, pathogenic microorganisms and phytotoxic activity are quite common as the presence of bad odours.

Among the techniques of disposal, the composting of the organic fraction of MSW is an environmentally friendly and economic solution (Veeken and Hamelers 2002). The composting process can be viewed as an accelerated version of the natural processes of transformation of organic debris in soil, and can be achieved by providing optimized environmental conditions for the microorganisms that carry out the process.

During the composting process, organic compounds are biologically oxidized through the successive activities of different microbial species to a more stable and complex OM (García et al. 1992a). The rate and extent of these transformations are influenced by the nature of the starting materials and the conditions applied (Hernández et al. 2006). In particular, moisture and aeration are critical (it should be kept in mind that composting is a biological oxidation) in order for the process to start and to be maintained until the transformation of organic substrates into stabilized OM. This is a critical point since the application of unstable compost to soil may be responsible for several environmental issues. For example, Mathur and co-workers (1993) showed that unstabilized compost can induce a competition for oxygen between soil microorganisms and plant roots/ seeds. In this case, these latter can possibly suffer for oxygen deprivation. Moreover, the application to soil of unstabilized compost with a high C to N ratio can indirectly induce nitrogen starvation in plants since soil microbial populations have a higher soil N demand due to the unbalanced C to N ratio in compost. Phytoxicity issues can also arise from the application to soil of not completely stabilized OM. Several intermediate compounds of the microbial metabolism can accumulate in such a medium (e.g. phenolic compounds and organic acids) exerting toxic effects to crops (Fuchs 2002).

It is now generally accepted that the main constraints for a safe use of compost in agriculture are its degree of stability and maturity. This implies the presence in compost of stable OM and the absence of phytotoxic effects (Chen and Inbar 1993; Castaldi *et al.* 2004; Mondini *et al.* 2004; Castaldi *et al.* 2008). Stability and maturity were sometimes treated as different terms for defining the same compost property with no real distinction. However, nowadays it is generally agreed that compost stability refers to the degree of OM decomposition by microbial activities and can be evaluated by respirometric measurements (Adani *et al.* 2003) or by monitoring the evolution of chemical (e.g. HA) and biochemical (e.g. hydrolase activities) characteristics of the OM in compost (Chefetz *et al.* 1998a; Castaldi *et al.* 2008). On the contrary, the maturity concept is mostly related to the presence or absence in compost of phytotoxic compounds produced during the active composting stage (Benito *et al.* 2005). In this regard it should be mentioned that, as stressed by Said-Pullicino *et al.* (2007), phytotoxic effects can be due, other than to the presence of organic compounds originated during composting, also by other factors such as excess of soluble salts or heavy metals. This is likely why there is not a universal method for measuring compost maturity even if several plant or seed assays are widely employed for this aim (Bernal *et al.* 1998; Wu *et al.* 2000). Besides, in most cases maturity measurement implies the combination of several parameters (Iannotti *et al.* 1993).

The identification of suitable physicochemical and/or biological parameters able to define the actual degree of OM evolution during the composting process, is not an easy task and is currently under debate (Castaldi *et al.* 2008). The identification of such parameters requires a deep knowledge of the factors conditioning the transformation and evolution of the OM during the different composting processes.

Many parameters have been proposed for the evaluation of compost stability and maturity, with varying degrees of reliability and technical complications. These include physicochemical properties, such as C/N ratio, quantification of humified organic substances, water soluble carbon and cation exchange capacity (Grigatti *et al.* 2004; Castaldi *et al.* 2005; Zmora-Nahum *et al.* 2005; Albrecht *et al.* 2008), as well as biological properties. Microbial respiration and enzyme activities are amongst these latter the more commonly applied (Adani *et al.* 2003; Mondini *et al.* 2004; Tiquia 2005; Albrecht *et al.* 2008; Castaldi *et al.* 2008).

Besides, some spectroscopic techniques, such as Fourier Transform-Infrared (FTIR) (i.e. Chefetz *et al.* 1998a), ¹³C Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (¹³C NMR) (i.e. Chefetz *et al.* 1998b; Chen 2003), mono-, two-, and three dimensional fluorescence (i.e. Senesi *et al.* 1996; Provenzano *et al.* 2001; Wei *et al.* 2008), electron spin resonance (i.e. Mikki *et al.* 1997) spectroscopy, and thermal analyses (i.e. Blanco and Almendros 1994; Provenzano *et al.* 2000) were widely used in the past and nowadays by several researchers to characterize MSW composting and end-products.

Given the complexity of the biological events occurring during composting, the different factors governing the process and the heterogeneity of the starting mixtures, it is not surprising the occurrence of results that are sometimes contradictory. The number of chemical and biological changes occurring during composting and the number of methods used to monitor these parameters (Ayuso et al. 1996; Melis and Castaldi 2004; Castaldi et al. 2005) have resulted in a certain difficulty to agree on a single method for the assessment of the stability and maturity of composts derived from organic wastes (Benito et al. 2003; Wang et al. 2004; Castaldi et al. 2008). On these bases, it is understandably difficult to build up a general and complete model describing the OM evolution during composting and the need of gathering further scientific data related to the process is indeed urgent.

Generally, most of the physical and chemical methods, microbiological tests, plant assays and humification indexes currently in use for the evaluation of compost stability and maturity are empirically-based criteria which are often not self-consistent. On the other hand, a general index of maturity, independent of the source material or the conditions applied during composting, would be really helpful for the consistent production of high quality compost and would have major practical and economical relevance.

In the following pages we review the transformations of OM during the MSW composting process and discuss the suitability of several physicochemical and biochemical parameters in defining the stability and maturity of the end product. In particular, the dynamics of several hydrolase activities, total organic carbon, humic carbon, and watersoluble fractions, during MSW composting will be reviewed and their effectiveness as quality-evaluation tools



FINAL COMPOST

Fig. 1 Simplified carbon degradation pathway during municipal solid waste composting.

discussed. Besides, special emphasis will be put on the evolution of the molecular structure of HA during the process as revealed by thermal analysis, Fourier Transform-Infrared (FTIR) and ¹³C Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (¹³C NMR) spectroscopy.

THE COMPOSTING PROCESS

Composting is a bio-oxidation process carried out by diverse microbial populations under aerobic conditions. This process basically involves the degradation of organic residues of plant and animal origin and their conversion into a stabilized product. It is largely a microbiological process based upon the activities of several bacterial groups and fungi (de Bertoldi et al. 1983). The main product arising from the composting process is rich in humus and plant nutrients whereas carbon dioxide, water, and heat are common by-products (Gajalakshmi and Abbasi 2008; Fig. 1). During the composting process, aerobic microorganisms metabolize simple and more complex organic compounds to provide a more stable OM, which chemically and biologically resembles humic substances (Fig. 1). The rate and extent of these transformations depend on both the available substrates as well as on the conditions of the process (Gajalakshmi and Abbasi 2008). In particular, the effectiveness of the composting (i.e. the mineralization and humification of the starting materials) is largely dependent upon the environmental conditions present within the composting system, such as oxygen tension, temperature, moisture, material disturbance and the quantity and quality of OM. All these factors contribute to provide a suitable environment for the activities of the different microbial populations involved in the process.

The composting process can be divided into four phases: (i) an initial (first) mesophilic phase (temperature range $10-42^{\circ}$ C), which may last for a few hours or a couple of days; (ii) a thermophilic phase (active phase, temperature range 45-70°C), which may last for a few days, several weeks or even months (particularly for wood wastes); (iii) second mesophilic phase during which mesophilic microorganisms, often dissimilar from those present in the first mesophilic phase, re-colonize the substrate; and (iv) the maturation (or curing) and stabilization phase which can last from some weeks to several months. The first two phases of the process are characterized by an intense microbial activity leading to the decomposition of easily biodegradable organic compounds and stabilization of organic residue. The lasting (i.e. humification) phases are characterized by the conversion of part of the remaining organic material into humic-like substances (Chen and Inbar 1993; Castaldi *et al.* 2005).

Temperature is most likely the dominant parameter controlling microbial activity during the process (McKinley et al. 1985). The high metabolic activity of microorganisms at the beginning of the process is responsible for a rapid increase of the temperature that, in the thermophilic phase (70-80°C), strongly selects for thermophilic bacteria. High temperatures in this phase are helpful to eliminate weed seeds and control microbial pathogens (Boulter et al. 2000). The slowing down of temperatures in the following phases promotes a re-colonization of the composting matrix with mesophilic microorganisms that continue the decomposition process. In these latter phases (second mesophilic and curing phases) the breakdown of recalcitrant components occurs. This is usually accompanied by a shift in the microbial community towards mainly eumycetes and actinomycetes that are able to degrade cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin (Boulter et al. 2000).

EVOLUTION OF CHEMICAL AND BIOCHEMICAL PARAMETERS DURING THE MSW COMPOSTING PROCESS

pН

At the beginning of the composting process the pH should be within tolerable limits for microbial growth, e.g. bacteria generally have an optimum pH range for growth between 6 and 8.0 and below pH 5.0 bacterial bio-control agents are inhibited (Hoitink *et al.* 1997). Fungi and actinomycetes generally can grow optimally in a wider range of conditions (pH ranges between 5.5-8.0 and 5.0-9.0 respectively) (Goodfellow and Williams 1983; Boulter *et al.* 2000). Indeed, the pH of the composting piles clearly affects the potential for beneficial bacteria to effectively colonize the compost piles. The pH is also an important indicator of the aeration level during composting. Well-aerated composting piles generally show higher pH values compared to piles in which anaerobic conditions are prevailing (Boulter *et al.* 2000).

It has been shown by several authors that a pH drop (between 0.2-0.8 units) generally occurs at the beginning of the process (Said-Pullicino et al. 2007; Gómez-Brandon et al. 2008) as a consequence of the bacterial activity that metabolize complex organic compounds to produce intermediates such as organic acids. The pH drop during the very early stages of composting has been also attributed to partial anaerobic conditions that can occur in the pile at the beginning of the process, and can result in the formation of organic acids (El Hajjouji et al. 2008). As aerobic conditions are provided through forced aeration and/or turning of the composting mass the pH generally increases as a consequence of organic acids degradation (Said-Pullicino et al. 2007). Several authors, i.e. Beck-Friis et al. (2003), also pointed out that the change of mesophilic to thermophilic conditions during MSW composting is accompanied by a pH change from slight acidic (<6) to alkaline (8-9). This pH increase during the active phase of the composting has been explained by some authors as an alkalinization of the mixture subsequent to the release of ammonia through the mineralization of organic compounds and consequent release of alkaline ions (Hellmann et al. 1997; Said-Pullicino et al. 2007; Gómez-Brandon et al. 2008; Raut et al. 2008). However, there is not a general agreement on this. For example, El Hajjouji et al. (2008) attributed the pH increase in the active phase of composting to a reduced level of carbon compounds with -COO⁻ and/or -OH⁻ groups due to microbial degradation and/or condensation-polymerisation reactions involving these moieties (El Hajjouji et al. 2008).

At the end of composting the pH values are generally higher than 7. Alkaline pH values in the end product can be used as an empirical indicator of compost maturity since organic acids of low molecular weight are generally phytotoxic, and not expected to be present in mature and stable compost. For example, Said Pullucino *et al.* (2007) and Komilis and Tziouvaras (2009) reported that the pH of MSW and lignocellulosic residues increased during the process reaching values above 8 at maturity. This could have significant implications on the fertility and productivity of soils amended with such a compost, as well as on the growth of pH-sensitive plants.

Total Organic Carbon (TOC)

The stabilization of organic wastes which is realized through the composting is mainly based on biodegradation of the total organic carbon (TOC). Indeed, compost stability could be expressed as a function of the degradation of TOC (Cooperband *et al.* 2003) and this parameter could be helpful in the monitoring of the process and evaluation of compost quality. Generally, the degradation of OM during composting depends on the materials used and the rate of TOC decomposition is strongly related to the microbial activity in the composting mixture (Zmora-Nahum *et al.* 2005). For instance, mixtures of MSW and materials with high lignin content showed a slowered OM degradation (because of lignin's resistance to degradation) compared to MSW composting alone. In this latter pile the reduction of the OM content (in the same period) was more than 70% of the initial values (Sánchez-Monedero *et al.* 1999).

During the first month of MSW composting a rapid decrease of the TOC concentration is commonly recorded (**Fig. 2**): during this time period, encompassing the first mesophilic and the "active phase", thermophilic and mesophilic bacteria decompose the easily available and degradable organic compounds producing CO_2 , H_2O , and heat. Subsequently, the rate of OM degradation decrease and OM maturation and stabilization generally take place. During this second period or "curing phase" the TOC values generally do not vary significantly and reach values between 17-27% dry matter (dm) (**Fig. 2**) (Melis and Castaldi 2004; Said-Pullicino *et al.* 2007; Barrena *et al.* 2009).

Nitrogen forms

A large majority of studies showed that significant losses of total organic nitrogen occur during MSW composting (Fig. 2). These losses vary depending on several factors that regulate the composting process such as aeration, moisture content, temperature and C/N ratio (De Gioannis and Muntoni 2007). Barrington and co-workers (2002) quantified Nlosses during composting ranging between 19.3 and 61.5% of dry matter (dm) whereas Martin and Dewes (1992) estimated N-losses between 9.6 and 19.6% dm. These losses mostly occurred through leaching during the first phase of the aerobic treatment. However, increases of organic N during the process were also reported by some authors. For instance, De Gioannis and Muntoni (2007) showed an increase of the concentration of total organic nitrogen during MSW composting, especially during the intense bio-oxidative phase (thermophilic phase). This was explained as a likely consequence of the hydrolysis of complex nitrogenous compounds present in the biodegradable fractions of the composting wastes. Other authors explained such increase as a concentration effect due to weight reduction of the composting pile (Bustamante et al. 2008).

For what it concerns the inorganic N, some researchers observed significant increases of ammonium nitrogen (N- NH_4^+) during the active phase of the process indicating an intense mineralization of organic N-compounds, active OM transformation, and hence the presence of a still unstable substrate (Zucconi and de Bertoldi 1987; Bernal et al. 1998; Tognetti et al. 2007; Gómez-Brandon et al. 2008). N-NH4 is an important N-source for microorganisms, which rapidly incorporate it into different organic compounds (assimilation) increasing the total microbial biomass. The rate of nitrogen assimilation by microbial populations depends on the rate of C assimilation and microbial C/N ratio, and varies during the process (De Gioannis and Muntoni 2007). The rate of microbial nitrogen uptake during MSW composting is known to reach a peak within the first 20-30 days of the process, while it drops down during the following phases when fungi and actinomycetes proliferate (De Gioannis and Muntoni 2007; Said-Pullicino et al. 2007).

During the active phase of MSW composting an important part of the total nitrogen loss is due to ammonia volatilization and/or immobilisation processes, which are favoured by high temperatures and high pH values (between 7.7-8.2) (García *et al.* 1991). Sànchez-Monedero *et al.* (2001) reported N losses due to ammonia volatilization of 41% dm during MSW composting. A decrease and a stabilization of the N–NH₄⁺ concentration has been recorded by several authors at the end of the thermophilic phase (**Fig. 2**) (Tognetti *et al.* 2007; Castaldi *et al.* 2008). The decrease to near-zero concentrations of N–NH₄⁺ at the end of the process is likely due to a progressive utilization of N–NH₄⁺ by nitrifying bacteria. During the nitrification process nitrifying bacteria oxidize the N–NH₄⁺ to N–NO₃⁻ (nitrate) via N–NO₂⁻ (nitrite). This process is usually carried out at mat-



Fig. 2 Evolution of some chemical parameters (TOC; WSC; TN; N-NH₄⁺; N-NO₃⁻; WSN; WSN-NH₄⁺; WSN-NO₃⁻) during MSW composting. (For each parameter data with same letter do not differ significantly at the 5% level according to the Fischer's Least Significant Difference test)*. * *Note*: Elaborated from: Melis and Castaldi 2004; Castaldi *et al.* 2005, 2008.

rix temperatures below 40 °C and under favourable aeration conditions (Tognetti *et al.* 2007; Said-Pullicino *et al.* 2007; Bustamante *et al.* 2008). The final N–NH₄⁺ values reached in MSW composts should be in general below 400 mg kg⁻¹ dm, that is the maximum recommended value for a mature compost (Zucconi and de Bertoldi 1987; Bustamante *et al.* 2008).

Low concentrations of nitrates are common at the beginning of the MSW composting process. Nitrates concentration then increases at the end of the active (thermophilic) phase and during the following mesophilic phase, suggesting active nitrification (Tognetti *et al.* 2007; Bustamante *et al.* 2008). However, the increase of nitrates during these phases is not always directly proportional to the decrease of N–NH₄⁺ (see for example **Fig. 2**). This could be due to an inhibition of the activity of nitrifying bacteria as a consequence of not optimal temperatures, partial volatilization of N–NH₄⁺ or excessive amount of ammonia, leaching of N–NO₃ with the watering of the maturation piles, and denitrification processes (Huang *et al.* 2004; Tognetti *et al.* 2007; Bustamante *et al.* 2008).

At the end of the MSW composting, but only if the process has been carried out under proper aeration conditions, the N–NO₃⁻ content should be always higher than that of N– NH₄⁺ (Bernal *et al.* 1998). The NH₄⁺/NO₃⁻ ratio has been used to evaluate compost stability and a limit value of 0.16 has been proposed for stable composts (Bernal *et al.* 1998). However, since the mineral N forms can change irregularly during MSW composting (see for example Said-Pullicino *et al.* 2007), their concentration in the final compost can be globally considered as an unreliable indicator of compost stability (Gómez-Brandon *et al.* 2008) and should be carefully interpreted.

Minimising nitrogen losses during the composting pro-

cess is always desirable since this determines an increase of the N concentration in the final product. This also means a higher agronomic and economic value of the compost and a limited odour generation during the process (Tognetti *et al.* 2007; Bustamante *et al.* 2008).

Carbon/nitrogen ratio (C/N ratio)

It is widely agreed that the general optimum C/N ratio in the starting material to be composted should be between 25–35 (de Bertoldi *et al.* 1983). If this ratio is greater than 40, the bio-oxidation activity within the composting pile is usually slowered, whereas excessive nitrogen in the starting material (low C/N values) allow a rapid decomposition and significant nitrogen losses due to ammonia volatilization, especially at high pH and temperature values (Sanchez-Monedero *et al.* 2001; Goyal *et al.* 2005; Bustamante *et al.* 2008).

During MSW composting the C/N ratio generally decreases, especially at the beginning of the process, due to the carbon losses as CO_2 . This ratio then stabilizes as the process proceeds ending up the final compost in the range of 10-15 (Margesin et al. 2006; Bustamante et al. 2008). Values of the C/N ratio <20 usually indicate a suitable maturation degree of the compost (Bustamante et al. 2008). However, the use of the C/N ratio as an index to evaluate compost maturity has been also questioned (e.g. Goyal et al. 2005; Raut et al. 2008), since the values for well-composted materials present a great maturity variability, due to the characteristics of the waste used and to the methods of N measurement (Hue and Liu 1995). Perhaps to obtain a valid C/N ratio, this has to be based on the biodegradable carbon really available for the microorganisms (Sánchez 2007). Moreover, it has been pointed out that the C/N ratio can

also level off before the compost stabilizes (Namkoong *et al.* 1999). For example, when MSW are mixed with wastes rich in nitrogen, such as sewage sludge or manure, the C/N ratio can be within the above mentioned optimal values (that define a stable compost) even though it may still be unstable (Namkoong *et al.* 1999; Gómez-Brandon *et al.* 2008). On the other hand, the evolution of the C/N ratio can be more useful as a monitoring parameter along the evolution of the composting process and not as a concrete value of stability or maturity.

Water-soluble fractions

Most of the biochemical transformations of the organic compounds during the MSW composting take place in the water-soluble fraction (Gonzales et al. 1999; Castaldi et al. 2008). Indeed, the analysis and the characterization of the water-soluble fraction could be a rapid and useful tool for improving our understanding of the entire process and evaluating the evolution and stability of the ÔM during composting. The degradation of the different organic components (lignin, cellulose, hemicellulose, proteins and lipids), leads to the formation during composting of a number of simple water-soluble organic compounds such as carbohydrates, amino acids, peptides and phenolic compounds of lower structural complexity with respect to the starting components. All these simple organic compounds can be utilized by microorganisms as a source of carbon and energy or used as precursors for the synthesis of new macromolecules with properties similar to those of the humic substances in soils (Sánchez-Monedero et al. 1999; Fig. 1). Here we review a number of water soluble fractions that have been used to monitor and characterize the MSW composting process as well as the end product.

Water soluble carbon (WSC)

WSC is the most readily biologically active carbon fraction which maintains a high level of microbial activity in the composting pile. Sugars, hemicellulose, phenolic substances, amino acids, peptides, and other easily biodegradable compounds, account for the main organic carbon in water extracts of immature MSW compost (Hsu and Lo 1999; Castaldi *et al.* 2008). The study of the chemical and biological transformations occurring in this fraction can be helpful for a better understanding of the dynamics of MSW composting and assists in the prediction of the stability and maturity of the end product.

A slow increase of the WSC concentration is typical during the first two weeks of MSW composting (Fig. 2). This increase is likely due to a relatively fast solubilization of simple organic compounds that is not accompanied by a proportional degradation or utilization by microorganisms (Castaldi et al. 2008). On the other hand, since composting is also a process of synthesis this increase may be due to new WSC originated by the microbial activity (Hernández et al. 2006). After the second week of composting the WSC consistently decreases indicating that microbial populations, whose growth was largely supported by growth on easily degradable substrates, are acclimating to the degradation of more recalcitrant substrates (Zmora-Nahum et al. 2005; Hernández et al. 2006; Castaldi et al. 2008), eventually leading to compost stabilization (Bernal et al. 1998; Chefetz et al. 1998a; Said-Pullicino et al. 2007). Indeed, the reduction of WSC after the first two weeks of composting can be attributed to the consumption of easily degradable organic compounds as to the synthesis of complex organic molecules that precipitate or flocculate. These latter molecules arise from the continuous mineralization of soluble organic compounds and repolymerization and/or condensation pathways that lead to the formation of complex organic substrates with low solubility in water and which tend to flocculate out the liquid phase (Hernández et al. 2006; Said-Pullicino and Gigliotti 2007). During the curing phase the concentration of water-soluble organic carbon in the hydrophobic fraction increases until the concentration of carbon in this fraction is actually equal or even greater than that in the hydrophilic fraction. This increase has been attributed to (i) the contribution of hydrophobic constituents from the degradation of lignocellulosic materials in the bulk OM occurring during the curing phase, (ii) a faster mineralization of hydrophilic water-soluble organic moieties with respect to the more refractory hydrophobic constituents, and (iii) the transformation of hydrophilic components into hydrophobic moieties by abiotic polymerization and condensation reactions that occur in solution (Said-Pullicino *et al.* 2007).

The study of WSC evolution during composting satisfies a large number of requirements, it follows a consistent trend, its determination is neither time-consuming or expensive and is easy to interpret (Gómez-Brandon et al. 2008). Threshold values for this parameter have been proposed by different authors in order to evaluate the degree of compost stability. For instance, Eggen and Vethe (2001) and García et al. (1992a) defined a stable compost as that with WSC<0.5% d.m., while Bernal et al. (1998) (WSC<1.7% d.m.), Hue and Liu (1995) (WSC<1% d.m.) and Zmora-Nahum et al. (2005) (WSC<0.4% d.m.) proposed different values. It is clearly apparent from these latter studies that this parameter can not be used univocally to evaluate compost stability. Moreover, several authors argued on the possibility to define a threshold value for WSC in the final compost in order to judge its stability. WSC at the end of process is in fact largely dependent on the raw material used for composting (Goyal et al. 2005).

Water-soluble nitrogen (WSN), water-soluble ammonium $(WSN-NH_4^+)$ and water-soluble nitrate $(WSN-NO_3^-)$

WSN and WSN–NH₄⁺ show a similar trend during MSW composting (Fig. 2). As generally recognized, soluble organic-N is subjected to ammonification and the increase of WSN–NH₄⁺ during composting reflects the ammonification of easily degradable compounds (Said-Pullicino et al. 2007). In particular, both WSN and WSN– NH_4^+ have been shown to increase during the first 7-10 days of the process whilst decreasing afterwards (**Fig. 2**) (Castaldi *et al.* 2008). The increase of WSN and WSN– NH_4^+ during the first days is probably due to a solid-liquid transfer of N fractions, while their subsequently depletion has been explained by several authors with the degradation of soluble amino acids, oligopeptides and proteins by microorganisms. Furthermore, certain organic compounds produced during composting can bind N-containing compounds removing them from solution and thus contributing to decrease the content of WSN. In particular, it is generally agreed that organic molecules arising from lignin degradation such as phenols, quinones and more complex compounds, are the main precursors in the formation of stabilized OM in compost. This latter process is mediated by their polymerization and condensation with N-compounds such as proteins, amino acids and nucleic acids (Sánchez-Monedero et al. 1999; Said-Pullicino et al. 2007).

Differently from WSN and WSN-NH4⁺, the WSN-NO3⁻ has been shown to gradually increase starting from the end of the active (thermophilic) phase of the MSW composting, reaching at the end of the process its highest value (Fig. 2). Nitrifying bacteria, which oxidize reduced N compounds for energy and fix carbon dioxide for their carbon source, are likely responsible for nitrate accumulation in compost during the curing phase (Castaldi et al. 2008). The contribution of autotrophic nitrifiers during MSW composting is basically absent during the first phase since the nitrification process is very sensitive to temperature (nitrification proceeds when temperature decreases under 50°C), as well as to excessive ammonia concentrations that inhibit the process. Moreover, the active degradation of easily degradable OM during the first phase of MSW composting decreases the availability of oxygen to these microorganisms (Tiqua and Tam 2000).

Water soluble carbohydrates (WS-Carb)

The WS-Carb fraction is mainly constituted by hexose and pentose monomers. Intuitively, the amount of these simple sugars in the water soluble fraction is rather indicative of the biochemical transformations of the matrix during composting.

The variation of WS-Carb during the MSW composting process is rather debated with some authors showing an increase of WS-Carb during the first 1-2 weeks of composting (Fig. 2) (e.g. Said-Pullicino and Gigliotti 2007; Castaldi et al. 2008) whereas others reported a sharp decrease during the same period (e.g. García et al. 1991; Sanchez-Monedero et al. 1999; Zmora-Nahum et al. 2005). As mentioned on top, WS-Carb are easily available carbon and energy sources for microorganisms and a sharp decrease, during the first part of the composting, is indeed expected. This could be also due to a delayed biodegradation of cellulose during composting which can be related to the sheathing of cellulose by lignin rather than chemical inhibition (Tuomela et al. 2000; Said-Pullicino and Gigliotti 2007). On the other hand, the microbially-mediated degradation of polymers deriving from vegetable waste, present in the matrix, such cellulose and hemicellulose and the production of microbial polysaccharides can be responsible for the opposite trend leading to an increase of WS-Carb.

After the first two weeks WS-Carb generally fell sharply and progressively until the end of the curing phase (Sánchez–Monedero *et al.* 1999; Castaldi *et al.* 2008; **Fig. 2**). Most of the WS-Carb are used as carbon and energy sources by microorganisms suggesting that their mineralization is most probably responsible for the decrease of these hydrophilic fractions during the composting (Said-Pullicino *et al.* 2007).

It can be concluded that there is compensation between the release of soluble carbohydrates, as a result of the degradation of the cellulose and hemicellulose fractions, particularly during the thermophilic phase, and the processes of mineralization carried out by the microbial populations.

Water soluble phenols (WS-Phenols)

The phenolic fraction generated during the partial degradation of lignin is generally insoluble and substantially more resistant to microbial degradation, because of its aromaticity. Moreover, the fraction of WS-Phenols, that is usually characterized by molecules with small molecular size/weight and a simple structure, is more prone to changes and transformations during composting with respect to phenols with high molecular weight. For this reason WS-Phenols have been proposed as indicators of the process evolution and MSW compost stability and maturity (Sánchez-Monedero *et al.* 1999).

In general, the presence of high levels of water-soluble phenolic compounds in the final compost may have a temporary adverse environmental impact especially when compost is added to agricultural soil. Seed germination can be severely inhibited by the residual presence of polyphenols and soil nitrogen immobilisation can also occur due to reaction with polyphenols (Bustamante *et al.* 2008).

The amount of WS-Phenols generally increases during the first weeks of composting, then a progressive decrease occurs (**Fig. 2**). This suggests that after a first period of approximately 20-30 days, WS-Phenols are slowly utilized by microorganisms either as an energy source or as precursors for the synthesis of new molecules (Bustamante *et al.* 2008). However, different trend have been also reported. Said-Pullicino *et al.* (2007) referred that the concentration of phenolic compounds in water-extractable OM remained constant during most of the composting and tended to increase towards the end of the curing phase. This increase of WS-Phenols is difficult to explain, even mentioning a concentration effect due to their recalcitrance. On the other hand, a significant activity of white-rot fungi, which was reported during the curing phase, can partly explain a constant presence of WS-Phenols. The activity of white-rot fungi can be responsible for lignin degradation thus contributing to the build up of phenols in water-extractable OM (Said-Pullicino *et al.* 2007).

Humic substances

Compost stability implies the formation of humic-like substances. For this reason humification processes have been widely investigated in order to find out helpful parameters or indexes able to assist in the evaluation of compost stability (Chen and Inbar 1993; Chefetz *et al.* 1998a; Lhadi *et al.* 2006; Gómez-Brandon *et al.* 2008). However, it should be mentioned here that humification indexes can vary greatly, in terms of absolute values, among composts produced from different starting materials (Inbar *et al.* 1992; Gómez-Brandon *et al.* 2008; Jouraiphy *et al.* 2008). This also implies that a generalized utilization of such an index should be avoided or alternatively carefully evaluated case by case.

In general, humic substances recovered and identified from different composts are characterized by a great heterogeneity which is basically reflecting the complex and still unknown processes involved in their formation, transformation and/or partial degradation (Hayes et al. 1989; Jouraiphy et al. 2008). Humic substances are characterized by the presence of different aromatic rings (phenolic and quinonic) which bear acidic functional groups and peripheral aliphatic, polysaccharidic and peptidic chains. These macromolecules are assembled into a variety of ways that determine the final the structure of humic substances (Swift 1989; MacCarthy et al. 1990; Stevenson 1994; Senesi et al. 1996; Piccolo and Conte 1999; MacCarthy 2001; Piccolo 2002). Humic substances can be divided into humic and fulvic fractions (MacCarthy 1990; Stevenson 1994) and their specific determination and/or quantification requires a suitable separation of the two fractions (Stevenson 1994). Depending on the methodology applied the humified C content could be overestimated. This overestimation is more common at the beginning of the MSW composting process, due to the presence of a large amount of carbon compounds that can be co-extracted (proteins, lipids and intermediate microbial metabolites) (Ĉiavatta et al. 1990; Grigatti et al. 2004). This is likely the reason why there is not a general agreement on the trend of humic and fulvic fractions throughout the process of composting (Benito et al. 2003; Bustamante et al. 2008).

The content of HA generally decreases during the first stage of MSW composting likely because of the depletion of easily degradable compounds bound to humic substances (Adani et al. 1999; Genevini et al. 2002). An increase of HA concentration has been reported by different authors, particularly at the beginning of the "curing phase" (Roletto et al. 1985; Senesi 1989; Tomati et al. 2000; Castaldi et al. 2005; Bustamante et al. 2008). However, these increases are rather small compared with the pre-existing humified fraction, and could be due to the concentration of the recalcitrant fraction (Adani et al. 1999; Lhadi et al. 2006) and/or to the synthesis of new humic substances (Castaldi et al. 2005). The general trend of HA during the MSW composting process indicates a certain HA degradation during the high rate phase (Adani et al. 1999) followed by a simultaneous formation and degradation of an ex novo HA fraction. Finally, Lhadi et al. (2006) suggested that the humification process during composting is closely connected to, and depends on the degradation processes of the more complex recalcitrant material (alkali insoluble fraction: humin).

Enzymatic activities

The enzymes released by the microorganisms during MSW composting play a key role in the biological and biochemical transformations of the matrix. Microbial enzymes within the composting pile are responsible for the breakdown of several organic compounds characterised by a complex structure (i.e. cellulose and proteins) finally leading to the solubilization of more simple water-soluble compounds (i.e. glucose, amino acids and urea) (Castaldi et al. 2008). These latter organic compounds became available as a source of carbon and energy for microorganisms, enabling them to multiply and actively persist within the composting matrix. The presence of a high content of degradable organic compounds in the initial mixture stimulates microbial growth and enzyme synthesis whereas as complex available substrates decrease, a reduced enzyme synthesis also occurs. Monitoring the activity of specific intracellular and/or extracellular enzymes during MSW composting may provide further insights into the waste biodegradation processes (Castaldi et al. 2008) and might be useful to evaluate compost stability (Mondini et al. 2004). Moreover, enzymatic activity measurements are reasonably easy, fast and not too expensive (Gómez-Brandon et al. 2008; Raut et al. 2008).

Enzymes with a significant role in the MSW composting process include dehydrogenases, cellulases and β -glucosidases (involved in C cycle), proteases and ureases (involved in N mineralization), and phosphatases (that remove phosphate groups from organic compounds). The activity of dehydrogenase, cellulase, β -glucosidase and protease typically increase during the first 15-20 days of MSW composting, usually in accordance with the dynamics of watersoluble fractions (i.e. water-soluble carbon and watersoluble carbohydrates). This indicates that the indigenous microflora that colonize the composting pile is metabolically active and that the synthesis of a variety of enzymes is occurring.

The dehydrogenase activity is commonly used as a measure of the overall microbial activity since this group of enzymes are involved in the production of energy in the form of ATP through the oxidation of organic compounds (Ros *et al.* 2006). During the first 15-20 days of composting a high dehydrogenase activity is generally recorded while afterwards a progressive decline occurs. The dehydrogenase activity usually does not vary significantly during the last part (approximately during the last month) of composting indicating that a residual metabolic activity is still present (Castaldi *et al.* 2008).

Protease activity is closely related to the N cycle. This group of enzymes catalyze the hydrolysis of proteins and, understandably, protease activity increases sharply at the beginning of the process, when a high availability of oligoand polypeptides is present in the initial mixture. As for dehydrogenase, protease activity decreases quickly after a first peak that is typical during the first 15-20 days, then it drops down and remains stable during the following phases of composting (Castaldi et al. 2008). Urease is another key enzyme closely related to the N cycle. It is involved in the hydrolysis of urea to ammonium and carbon dioxide. Urease activity usually increases during the first 2-3 weeks of composting when a large availability of WSN is present (García et al. 1992a), while a considerable reduction is generally observed afterwards. The increasing concentration of WSN-NO₃⁻ after the first month of MSW composting can be responsible for a decline of urease activity, that seems strongly repressed by WSN-NO₃⁻ (Nannipieri *et al.* 1980). The trend of urease activity during MSW composting can be quite different from the other enzyme activities discussed. In particular, after urease activity reaches a minimum, it is not uncommon to detect a second peak likely due to urease resynthesis (Nannipieri et al. 1980; Castaldi et al. 2008). It has been proposed that this resynthesis may be due to an increased level of proteins in the composting pile consequent to the lysis of microbial cells. This is accompanied by an increase of protease (Raut et al. 2008) followed by a peak in urease activity (Castaldi et al. 2008). During the last part of MSW composting, generally urease activity drops down and stabilizes.

Cellulases are a class of enzymes that catalyze the hydrolysis of cellulose. The cellulases within the composting mixture are related to the types of cellulolytic microorganisms (e.g. bacteria and fungi) present in the composting mixture (Goyal *et al.* 2005). The rate and extent of cellulose decomposition is one of the most important parameters influencing the time of the composting. It can be assessed that cellulose content influences the process more than any other substrates (Raut *et al.* 2008). Cellulase activity gradually increases during MSW composting reaching a peak around 20-30 days and then declines (Goyal *et al.* 2005; Raut *et al.* 2008).

β-Glucosidase is another key enzyme governing the carbon cycle. It hydrolyzes the reducing terminations of β-Dglucose chains releasing β-glucose monomers (Nannipieri *et al.* 2002). Indeed, β-glucosidase activity is indicative of the presence of β-D-glucose chains arising from the labile OM. Generally, β-glucosidase activity increases during the first 15-20 days of MSW composting, then sharply decreases reaching a minimum after about 3 months of composting (Castaldi *et al.* 2008), and finally remaining stable in the last part of the process. As recently reported by Cunha-Queda *et al.* (2007) the decline in the activity of both cel-

 Table 1 Values of some enzymatic activities at the end of composting process

Authors	Dehydrogenase	Protease	Urease	Cellulase	β-glucosidase	Alkaline	Acid
						Phosphatase	Phosphatase
Ayuso et al. 2006	_	5	20	_	20	300	-
		µmol N–NH4 ⁺ g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹	µmol N–NH4 ⁺ g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹ .		μ mol PNP g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹ .	µmol PNP g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹	
Castaldi et al.	26.17	209.81	217	8.6	187.21	_	_
2008	μ g TPF g dwt h ⁻	μg tyr g dwt h ⁻¹	μg N–NH4 ⁺ g ⁻¹ dwt h ⁻¹	μ g gluc g ⁻¹ dwt h ⁻¹	$\mu g PNP g^{-1} dwt h^{-1}$		
Cunha-Queda et	_	0.3-9.0	3-65	8-40	0.1-3.2	0.7-5.0	1.5-4.5
al. 2007		mmol tyr g ⁻¹ dm	µmol N–NH4 ⁺ g ⁻¹	µmol gluc g ⁻¹ dw	μ mol PNP g ⁻¹ dw	µmol PNP g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹	µmol PNPg ⁻¹ h ⁻¹
		2h ⁻¹	dw 2h ⁻¹	16h ⁻¹	\mathbf{h}^{-1}		
Gòmez Brandòn	-	800	-	4000	370	_	_
et al. 2008		mg tyr kg ⁻¹ dm		mg eq gluc kg ⁻¹ dw	mg PNP kg ⁻¹ dw		
Goyal et al. 2005	_	811-1183	-	63-36	-	-	_
		mg tyr kg- ¹ dm		mg red. sugar			
				kg 'd.m.h '	1000 0500	5000 12000	2000 (000
Mondini <i>et al.</i>	_	-	_	-	1000-2500	5000-13000	3000-6000
2004 D 4 4 2000				0.0	µg PNP g n	µg PNP g n	µg PNP g n
Raut <i>et al</i> . 2008	_	o Activity	_	0.8		Z	-
Dec. et al. 2006	700 1000	mg gm nr		mg/gm/nr	4 55 9 40	mg/g/nr	
Ros <i>et al</i> . 2006	/00-1000 DITE/	9.51-25.52	-	-	4.33-8.49	-	_
	g IN I F/g	μ mol N–NH ₄ ° g			µmoi PNP·g [•] h [•]		

lulases and β -glucosidase in the second part of the process could be reasonably attributed to a substantial decrease in available organic substrates.

Phosphatases are enzymes with significant agronomic implications since they hydrolyze organic compounds containing phosphate groups and release inorganic phosphorus assimilable by plants (Ayuso *et al.* 1996). Phosphatases are exclusively produced by microorganisms and hence their presence in compost can be directly related to the microbial abundance and activity (Raut *et al.* 2008). The evolution of phosphatase activity during MSW composting is not straightforward. Raut *et al.* (2008) recorded an increase of alkaline phosphomonoesterase activity up to the first 9 days of composting, followed by a sharp decrease during the active phase. This was likely attributed to a feedback inhibition of this enzyme by inorganic phosphate (Ayuso *et al.* 1996). Finally, Raut *et al.* (2008) and Ros *et al.* (2006) recorded a maximum activity of phosphatases near the end of the composting process.

Generally, hydrolytic activities are able to reveal the dynamics of the OM degradation during the composting process of the MSW. With few exceptions, the trend of the different enzyme activities (mentioned in this paper) during composting are similar, even if absolute values can vary greatly depending of the composition of the starting composting materials (**Table 1**) (García *et al.* 1992a; Castaldi *et al.* 2008; Gómez-Brandon *et al.* 2008). This also implies that the use of threshold values for specific enzyme activities does not seem suitable to univocally define compost maturity. On the other hand, the evolution of the kinetics and/or dynamics of selected hydrolases can be certainly helpful for process monitoring and, ultimately, to judge compost maturity (Castaldi *et al.* 2008; Gómez-Brandon *et al.* 2008).

Thermal analyses

Thermal degradation techniques, such as thermogravimetry and differential thermogravimetry (TG/DTG), differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) and differential thermal analysis (DTA), have been used for many years for the characterization of the OM during different biological stabilization processes (Otero et al. 2002; Marhuenda-Egea et al. 2007; Carballo et al. 2008). Thermogravimetry in particular has been used in the past and in recent years to evaluate compost stability and maturity (Dell'Abate et al. 2000; Melis and Castaldi 2004; Baffi et al. 2007; Carballo et al. 2008). In general, all of these techniques are based on a programmed heating of the sample (i.e. compost, soil, etc) in a controlled atmosphere which ultimately provides detailed quali-quantitative information on the stability of the OM analyzed. Thermal analyses revealed particularly useful because of the rapidity of determination, simplicity and reproducibility. Additionally, thermal degradation techniques are relatively inexpensive yet reliable methods, and are able to provide precious information on the chemical characteristics of the sample without any preliminary extraction step (Melis and Castaldi 2004). These methods appear promising for compost characterization and could be used to integrate the information provided from standard chemical or biochemical analyses (Blanco and Almendros 1994; Atanasov et al. 1985).

TG and DTG analyses imply the measurement of changes of the sample mass with temperature. A graph (thermogram) in which the sample mass is varying as a function of the temperature allows the evaluation of thermal stability, reaction speed, reaction processes and sample composition. Based on TG and DTG analyses, different authors reported that the first weight loss of the OM from MSW compost occurs in the 50–150°C range, and is indicative of dehydration reactions (**Fig. 3**) (Dell'Abate *et al.* 2000; Melis and Castaldi 2004; Smidt and Lechner 2005; Marhuenda-Egea *et al.* 2007; Carballo *et al.* 2008). Between 200 and 760°C, the thermal degradation process of the sample occurs mainly in two steps (Dell'Abate *et al.* 2000; Melis and Castaldi 2004;



Fig. 3 DTG and DSC curves of compost samples at different times of the MSW composting process. Reprinted from Melis P, Castaldi P (2004) Thermal analysis for the evaluation of the organic matter during municipal solid waste aerobic composting process. *Thermochimica Acta* **413**, 209-214, with kind permission from Elsevier, Ltd.

Marhuenda-Egea et al. 2007). The first peak, recorded in the 200-400°C range, is indicative of carbohydrates combustion (Fig. 3) (Marhuenda-Egea et al. 2007), whereas the second peak, usually recorded between 400-520°C, is indicative of thermal degradation of aromatic structures (Geyer et al. 2000; Melis and Castaldi 2004). It has been shown by several authors that the weight loss in the 200-400°C range can reach approximately 40% d.m. for immature compost while is approximately one half (~20% d.m.) for stabilized compost (Geyer et al. 2000; Melis and Castaldi 2004). During composting, as simple carbohydrates are metabolized by the microorgamisms, and aromatic compounds are concentrated or synthesized, the weight loss recorded for the second peak (400-520°C range) increases (Fig. 3). These trends suggest a progressive transformation of the biomass in the polyelectrolyte macromolecules known as humified matter (Buurman et al. 2002; Melis and Castaldi 2004). Usually, this is also accompanied by an increase in stability and aromatization degree of the chemical constituents of the OM (Dell'Abate et al. 2000; Marhuenda-Egea et al. 2007). Further, some authors observed a shift of all DTG peaks during composting toward higher temperature ranges indicating that the presence of more stabilized OM increases during the process (Fig. 3) (Melis and Castaldi 2004; Marhuenda-Egea et al. 2007). Thermograms with a modest weight loss in the 695-750°C range, were also reported by some authors. These weight losses were mainly attributed to thermal degradation of carbonates present as "accessory" compounds (Atanasov et al. 1985). These weight losses generally increase with the composting time (Fig. 3) as carbonates concentrate during the process (Melis and Castaldi 2004).

DSC thermoanalysis provides characteristic DSC curves for each sample analyzed in which heat flux is expressed as a function of temperature. Peaks in DSC curves reveal the occurrence of exothermic or endothermic reactions in the sample in correspondence to certain temperatures. DSC curves of MSW composting materials are generally characterized by an endothermic peak near 100°C, representative of dehydration reactions, and two distinct exothermic peaks (around 250-350 and 440-540°C) which indicate the reactions of organic components characterized by different thermal stability (Fig. 3) (Dell'Abate et al. 2000; Melis and Castaldi 2004; Marhuenda-Egea et al. 2007). In particular, these exothermic peaks were assigned respectively to dehydration, loss of peripheral polysaccharide chains, loss of peptidic chains, and oxidation and polycondensation of aromatic nuclei (Dell'Abate et al. 2000; Senesi et al. 2007; Carballo et al. 2008). As the composting proceed, the intensity of the second exothermic peak usually increase, while the first one slightly decrease until disappearing in the end product (Smidt and Lechner 2005; Smidt and Tintner 2007; Carballo et al. 2008). The small shift towards higher temperatures of the second exothermic peak is also obvious as the composting material increases its stability with time (Provenzano et al. 1998; Ouatmane et al. 2000; Provenzano et al. 2000; Smidt and Tintner 2007).

The exothermic reactions in DSC curves of MSW compost are commonly associated with two distinct weight losses on the TG and DTG curves (200-400 and 400-520°C range) (Provenzano et al. 1998; Ouatmane et al. 2000; Provenzano et al. 2000; Marhuenda-Egea et al. 2007). The presence in DSC curves, relative to stabilized composts, of a more intense peak in the 440-540°C range could be an indication of the substantial increase of humified OM during composting (Fig. 3) (Melis and Castaldi 2004; Smidt and Tintner 2007). Such an intense peak in correspondence to stable compost could be related to an increase of the stability and aromatization degree of the OM during the process. This can be due either by a concentration effect through the loss of the less stable molecules during the process or/and by the *ex-novo* synthesis of more stable molecules (Marhuenda-Egea et al. 2007). It is important to mention that DSC curves of stabilized compost can be very similar to those of the native soil HA (Senesi et al. 2007). Therefore, as recognized by several authors (Otero et al. 2002; Melis and Castaldi 2004), DSC analysis is a useful tool for the evaluation of the humification/stability achieved by the composting material (Senesi et al. 2007).

Fourier transform-infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy

It is becoming increasingly clear that suitable and reliable criteria to evaluate either the stability and/or the maturity of organic amendments should be mainly based on chemical and physicochemical features of humic-like components, i.e., HA-like and fulvic acid (FA)-like fractions (Senesi *et al.* 2007).

Each step in the decomposition of OM during MSW composting is characterized by the production of metabolites that can be investigated using infrared (IR) spectroscopy. This approach can provide useful information on the functional groups of these metabolites and on their physicochemical features (Smidt and Meissl 2007; Carballo *et al.* 2008). Infrared spectra illustrate the plot of infrared radiation absorbed by the matter or sample investigated (Meissl *et al.* 2007; Carballo *et al.* 2008). The absorption bands in the infrared spectrum are reflecting the energy absorbed from infrared light while causing the vibration of molecule bonds of functional groups present in the sample analyzed (Smidt and Meissl 2007).

FTIR spectroscopy has been widely applied to investigate the composting process, to characterize humic substances and to assess compost stability and maturity (Inbar *et al.* 1991; Mikki *et al.*, 1997; Provenzano *et al.* 2001; Ouatmane *et al.* 2002; Sánchez-Monedero *et al.* 2002; Baddi *et al.* 2004; Castaldi *et al.* 2005; Carballo *et al.* 2008; El Hajjouji *et al.* 2008). FTIR spectroscopy has been also used for rapid qualitative assessments of composts during the process (Ouatmane *et al.* 2000; Smidt and Meissl 2007).

(Ouatmane *et al.* 2000; Smidt and Meissl 2007). Generally, FTIR as well as ¹³C NMR methodologies imply HA extraction. Commonly, methods for the extraction of humic substances from organic wastes are derived from the analytical procedures used to extract HA from soils. It should be noted that considerable differences exist between soil and materials with a high content of OM such as composts, muds, etc. The presence in the compost of high amount of carbon compounds such as lipids, proteins and carbohydrates could interfere with the determination of humic substances, since the solvents employed in the extraction are not completely selective (Ciavatta *et al.* 1990; Adani 1995; Grigatti *et al.* 2004). Therefore the estimation of the amount of humic substances in compost needs more suitable extraction procedures such as those described by Chefetz *et al.* (1998a) and Adani *et al.* (1999). These methodologies are able to extract "true humic acid" fraction which is purified from the interfering substances.

The characteristics of the main bands present in the FTIR spectra of HA extracted from MSW compost, the assignment to functional groups and their behaviour during the composting process are reported in **Table 2**.

The FTIR spectra of HA extracted during composting typically show a characteristic broad band at 3400-3300 cm⁻¹ due to the stretching of the H–O bonds (Chefetz *et al.* 1998a; Provenzano *et al.* 2001; Castaldi *et al.* 2005). Its width can be used as an index of alcohol and phenol association. Moreover, two distinct peaks are usually present at about 2930 and 2850 cm⁻¹ (stretching of aliphatic C-H bonds) (García et al. 1992b; Stevenson 1994; Castaldi et al. 2005; Spaccini and Piccolo 2007; Carballo et al. 2008). These latter signals have been assigned to the symmetrical and asymmetrical stretching and bending vibrations of CH₂ groups in long-chain aliphatic molecules respectively (Spaccini and Piccolo 2007). A strong adsorption in this range is indicative of a high content of lipids in the HA extracted and hence is suggesting that the compost is not fully mature and/or it could depend on the amount of fat in the initial mixtures. The $2000-400 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ zone can provide the following information on the OM in compost: a shoulder around 1711 cm⁻¹ usually indicates the presence of not conjugated carbonylic (C=O) groups, a wide peak at 1650 cm⁻¹ is reflecting the presence of C=O conjugated groups and C=C groups in aromatic structure, small peaks or shoulders at 1550 and 1520 cm^{-1} are indicating the presence of amide and carboxylate C=O and an evident peak at 1430-1460 cm⁻¹ is indicative of the presence of C–H deformation of CH₂ or CH₃ groups; of the CO₂ stretch of carboxylates and also of the C–O stretch vibration of carbonates (Inbar et al. 1989; García and Hernández 1992; García et al. 1992b; Senesi et al. 1996; Mikki et al. 1997; Ouatmane et al. 2000; Provenzano et al. 2001; Chen 2003; Castaldi et al. 2005; Carballo et al. 2008).

A peak at 1628 cm^{-1} can be related to the ring vibration of aromatic compounds, whereas the inclusion of peptidic molecules in a poorly mature compost can be revealed by an intense band around 1550 cm⁻¹ (Amide II band) (Spaccini and Piccolo 2007). A peak around 1323 cm⁻ is also recognizable in spectra of HA extracted from not mature MSW compost. This peak has been attributed to aromatic primary and secondary amines (Inbar *et al.* 1989; Senesi *et al.* 1996; Carballo *et al.* 2008). At 1200 cm⁻¹ a peak is also generally present (stretching of single C-O bond in carboxylic acids, esters and ethers) (Castaldi et al. 2005). Some authors found a very broad peak at 1160 and 1030 cm⁻¹ that was attributed to C-O bonds in both polyalcoholic and ether functional groups (Spaccini and Piccolo 2007), and polysaccharides (García and Hernández 1992; Carballo *et al.* 2008). Finally, a sharp band at 875 cm⁻¹ may be assigned to the C-O out-of-plane bend of carbonates salts formed during the composting process (Spaccini and Piccolo 2007; Carballo et al. 2008; Spaccini and Piccolo 2008).

The FTIR spectra reported in several studies indicate a decrease of the relative intensity of polysaccharide and aliphatic peaks during the MSW composting. This reflects different reactions of degradation and condensation of organic molecules occurring in the composting matrix as the process proceeds (Chefetz *et al.* 1998a; Castaldi *et al.* 2005;

Table 2 Major bands present in FTIR spectra of HA extracted from MSW compost at different stages of the process, the assignment to functional groups, and their behaviour during the MSW composting.

Location wavenumber	Vibration	Functional groups or components	Behaviour of peak relative intensity
(cm ⁻¹)			(I= increase; D= decrease; ↔= stable)
3400-3300	O-H stretch	Bonded and non-bonded hydroxyl groups and water	D
3180-3090	NH ₂ stretch (2 bands)	Primary amides	D
2930	C-H stretch	Symmetrical and asymmetrical stretching of CH ₂ groups	D
2850	C-H bend	Bending vibrations of CH ₂ groups	D
1711	C=O	Not conjugated carbonylic C=O	\leftrightarrow
1650	C=O; C=C	C=O conjugated, C=C in aromatic structure	Ι
1628	C=C	Ring vibration of aromatic compounds	Ι
1570-1540	N–H in plane	Secondary Amides	D
1520	N–H; C=O	Amide and carboxylates	\leftrightarrow
1430-1460	C-H deformation; CO2	Alkanes; carboxylates and carbonates	Ι
	stretch; C-O stretch		
1323	N–H	Aromatic primary and secondary amines	D
1200	С–О	Stretching of single C–O bond in carboxylic acids, esters and ethers	Ι
1160	C–O	Polyalcoholic and ether functional groups	D
1030	C–O	Polysaccharides	D
875	C–O stretch	Carbonate	Ι

Senesi *et al.* 2007). Spaccini and Piccolo (2008) observed a large decrease of alkyl signals in the 2926–2853 cm⁻¹ region after 90 days of stabilization period, suggesting the depletion of the degradable lipid component. Other main variations during composting are represented by the rapid disappearance near the end of the process of the peak at 1550 cm⁻¹ and the progressive decrease of the intensity of the band relative to alcoholic and ether functional groups (1030–1160 cm⁻¹) as the process proceeds (Spaccini and Piccolo 2008). Therefore FTIR spectroscopy indicates that coating materials such as polysaccharides, peptides and lipids bound to the HA core structure are degraded during composting, leading to more aromatic humic structures (Chefetz 1998a; Baddi *et al.* 2003, 2004; Castaldi *et al.* 2005; Senesi *et al.* 2007).

¹³C nuclear magnetic resonance (¹³C NMR) spectroscopy

Solid-state ¹³C NMR is one of the most powerful tools for examining the carbon composition of OM (Hafidi *et al.* 2005; El Hajjouji *et al.* 2008). ¹³C NMR spectroscopy has been used for the monitoring of the stabilization process of OM during composting. In particular, ¹³C NMR spectroscopy has been used to investigate either the compost sample or the HA extracted (Inbar *et al.* 1991; Chefetz *et al.* 1998a; Almendros *et al.* 2000; Baddi *et al.* 2003; Amir *et al.* 2004; Castaldi *et al.* 2005; Hafidi *et al.* 2005; El Hajjouji *et al.* 2008; Jouraiphy *et al.* 2008).

The distribution of the different carbon types in the 13 C NMR spectra of HA extracted from MSW compost is reported in **Table 3** along with their trends during the process.

The ¹³C NMR spectra of HA extracted from MSW composts show a characteristic peak at 215 ppm (carbonyl C) (Almendros *et al.* 2000; Castaldi *et al.* 2005), which progressively increases during the process. The region between 210 and 161 ppm (carboxylic, ketone and amide C) is typically dominated by a peak at 175 ppm, attributed to the carboxylic C (Spaccini and Piccolo 2007, 2008); even in this case the peak intensity increases in mature composts. In the aromatic region (160-116 ppm) major peaks are recognizable at 148 ppm (phenolic C) (Chefetz et al. 1998a) and 152 ppm (O-substituted aromatic C): both peaks usually show a greater intensity in HA extracted at the beginning of the process (Castaldi et al. 2005); an intense peak within the above mentioned region is also visible at 130 ppm (aromatic C). The intensity of this latter peak increases during composting (Castaldi et al. 2005). On the contrary, the intensity of the aliphatic C region (115-0 ppm) peaks decreases in the HA of mature compost; in particular, the greatest reduction is in the 100-47 ppm region. In this region the

Table 3 Distribution of the different carbon types in the ¹³C NMR spectra of HA extracted from MSW compost at different stages of the process, the assignment to functional groups, and their behaviour during the MSW composting

Chemical shift	Functional groups or	Behaviour of peak relative
ppm	components	intensity as the process
		proceeds (I= increase; D=
		decrease; ↔= stable)
215	Carbonyl C	I
210-161	Carboxylic, ketone and	
	amide C	
175	carboxylic C	I
160-116	Aromatic region	
152	O-substituted aromatic C	D
148	phenolic C	D
130	aromatic C	I
115–47	Aliphatic region	
106 and 115	anomeric C	D
70–90 and 102	carbohydrates	D
75	aliphatic alcohols	D
56	methoxyl C	D
46–10	Alkyl region	
33	polyethylene C	\leftrightarrow

main peaks are detected at 56 ppm (methoxyl C) and 75 ppm (carbohydrates or aliphatic alcohols) (Inbar *et al.* 1991; El Hajjouji *et al.* 2008). In addition, carbohydrates often appear around 70–90 and at 102 ppm. The peaks at 106 and 115 ppm, corresponding to anomeric C (El Hajjouji *et al.* 2008; Spaccini and Piccolo 2008) typically decrease during composting. In the alkyl region (46–10 ppm) a peak with a constant intensity at 33 ppm (polyethylene C) is commonly present in ¹³C NMR spectra of HA extracted from compost (Lorenz *et al.* 2000; Ouatmane *et al.* 2000; El Hajjouji *et al.* 2008). This signal is characteristic of $(CH_2)_n$ present in fatty acid chains and ramified aliphatic structures and/or long chains of HA.

chains of HA. The ¹³C NMR spectroscopy of HA extracted during MSW composting indicates that degradable organic compounds, such as aliphatic chains, are modified during the composting process to generate condensed aromatic structures containing large proportions of hydroxyl, methoxyl, carboxyl and carbonyl groups (see the increase of peak intensities at 215, 175 and 130 ppm; **Table 3**). These resistant structures are preserved from degradation and contribute to the neoformation of HA (El Hajjouji *et al.* 2008). An increase of the molecular bonds and inter-and intra-molecular associations has been highlighted by Schnitzer *et al.* (2000) in the OM during MSW composting. This indicates the formation of large molecules characterized by a reduced chemical and biological reactivity with respect of the original compounds. Jouraiphy *et al.* (2008) considers the aliphatic polyesters/ethers as new structures incorporated into the humic fraction during the composting process.

A common trait that characterizes the MSW composting matrix during the process is the decrease of carbohydrate compounds, and the progressive increase in aromaticity and carboxyl content (Chen *et al.* 1989; Inbar *et al.* 1991; Amir *et al.* 2004; Castaldi *et al.* 2005; Senesi *et al.* 2007; Jourai-phy *et al.* 2008). By contrast, Spaccini and Piccolo (2007) showed a significant decrease of alkyl carbons in samples of MSW compost at the beginning of the stabilization period. The authors suggested that an overall mineralization of the most degradable lipid compounds occurred, with no equivalent changes found for carbohydrate carbons.

The analyses of ¹³C NMR spectra of HA extracted from MSW compost globally indicate that simple carbohydrates and polysaccharides and/or the most degradable lipid compounds are degraded during the process. At the same time, humic structures incorporated aliphatic polyesters and more aromatic structures that are more stable and less reactive than the starting material (Senesi *et al.* 1996; Castaldi *et al.* 2005; Jouraiphy *et al.* 2008).

CONCLUSIONS

Mineralization and humification of fresh OM are the main processes characterizing the composting of MSW.

Water soluble OM is subject to significant changes during composting process which directly reflect the overall OM transformation. Monitoring the chemical and biological changes occurring in water-extractable fraction during the process (particularly the WSC, WSN, WSN–NH₄⁺, WSN– NO₃⁻ and WS–Carb) can certainly improve our knowledge on the evolution, stability and maturity of the OM during composting. High concentrations of soluble and labile organic compounds such as those present in the hydrophilic fraction of water-extractable OM, are primarily responsible for the lack of compost stability and maturity. The attainment of stable and mature compost can be traced through to their disappearance from the water-extract fraction during the process.

Enzyme activities provide precious indications on the extent of the microbial activity during the composting as well as the relative content of labile (and often toxic) organic compounds. Globally, enzymatic activities and water soluble fractions could be used as indicators of the state and evolution of the OM during MSW composting. The highest enzyme activities and concentrations of water soluble fractions are usually recorded between 0 and 30/60 days, during the active phase of decomposition. Subsequently, an invariance (versus time) of these parameters occurs until the end of the process likely indicating a suitable stability and maturity of the end product. However, composting can be performed starting from very different organic substrates and involves a large number of biochemical and chemical transformations. Since the level of these parameters measured on stable composts largely depends on the raw material used, it is extremely difficult to establish generic threshold values for each enzymatic activity or water soluble fraction. This also means that absolute values relative to these parameters can not be promptly used as an index of compost stability and maturity. To the contrary the monitoring of kinetics and dynamics of selected hydrolases and/or water soluble fractions during the process, that incidentally would be expensive and laborious, can be helpful in order to judge compost stability and maturity.

On the other hand, other physicochemical parameters including C/N and NH_4^+/NO_3^- ratios, as well as WS-Phenols, do not appear as reliable indexes able to provide a clear understanding of the degradation processes of various organic substrates.

During MSW composting the breakdown of decomposable OM involves a decrease of the polysaccharide content, degradable lipid compounds and peptidic molecules and the production of hydrophobic structures incorporating more aromatic compounds and aliphatic polyesters/ethers. Thus, the OM in the final product presents both aromatic and aliphatic structures that are chemically and biologically more stable with respect to its original state.

However, the study of changes of humic substances concentrations during MSW composting should not be used alone to estimate the degree of OM evolution, maturation and stability during the process. Indeed, the concentration of humic substances generally increases during composting but this increase is very limited. On the contrary, the study of the evolution of humic fraction during the process, carried out by thermal and spectroscopy analyses, can provide useful details on the humification degree, stability and maturity of the OM in compost. TG/DTG thermograms, and DSC curves of compost can reveal the state of OM evolution during MSW composting and in particular its progressive thermal stabilization as the process proceeds optimally. Stabilization of the OM during MSW composting is clearly indicated by the shift of TG/DTG peaks towards higher temperatures and by the presence of an intense peak corresponding to the second exothermic reaction in DSC curves.

Both non-destructive FTIR and solid-state C^{13} NMR spectroscopy are analytic techniques capable of revealing a variation in HA composition during the composting process. FTIR analyses indicate that materials such as polysaccharides, peptides and lipids bound to the HA core structure are degraded during composting, leading to more aromatic humic structures. Furthemore, C^{13} NMR spectroscopy of HA extracted from MSW composts clearly showed a decrease of the intensity of the aliphatic C region during the process, with the greatest reduction involving carbohydrates. C^{13} NMR spectroscopy also indicates that this trend is accompanied by an increase in aromaticity and carboxyl content.

In conclusion thermal analysis and FTIR and C^{13} NMR spectroscopy appear reliable and suitable indicators for the assessment of the evolution, maturation and stabilization of the OM during MSW composting.

REFERENCES

- Adani F, Genevini PL, Gasperi F, Tambone F (1999) Composting and humification. *Compost Science and Utilization* 7, 24-33
- Adani F, Gigliotti G, Valentini F, Laraia R (2003) Respiration index determination: a comparative study of different methods. *Compost Science and Utilization* 11, 144-151
- Albrecht R, Joffre R, Gros R, Le Petit J, Terrom G, Périssol C (2008) Efficiency of near-infrared reflectance spectroscopy to assess and predict the stage of transformation of organic matter in the composting process. *Bioresource Technology* 99, 448-455
- Almendros G, Dorado J, Gonzales-Vila FJ, Blanco MJ, Lankes U (2000) C-NMR assessment of decomposition patterns during composting of forest and shrub biomass. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 32, 793-804
- Amir S, Hafidi M, Merlina G, Hamdi H, Revel JC (2004) Elemental analysis, FTIR and 13C NMR of humic acids from sewage sludge composting. *Agronomie* 24, 13-18
- Amir S, Hafidi M, Lemee L, Bailly JR, Merlina G, Guiresse M, Pinelli E, Revel JC, Amblès A (2006) Structural characterization of humic acids, extracted from sewage sludge during composting, by Thermochemolysis–Gas Chromatography–Mass Spectrometry. *Process Biochemistry* 41, 410-422
- Atanasov O, Rustschev D (1985) Thermal analysis of peat and peat soils. Thermochimica Acta 90, 373-377
- Ayuso M, Hernández T, García C, Pascual JA (1996) Biochemical and chemical-structural characterization of different organic materials used as manures. *Bioresource Technology* 57, 201-207
- Baddi GA, Hafidi M, Gilard V, Revel JC (2003) Characterization of humic acids produced during composting of olive mill wastes: elemental and spectroscopic analyses (FTIR and 13C NMR). Agronomie 23, 661-666
- Baddi GA, Gonzalvez J, Cegarra J, Hafidi M (2004) Chemical and spectroscopic analyses of organic matter transformations during composting of olive mill wastes. *International Biodeterioration and Biodegradation* 54, 39-44
- Baffi C, Dell'Abate MT, Nassisi A, Silva S, Benedetti A, Genevini PL, Adani F (2007) Determination of biological stability in compost: a comparison of methodologies. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 39, 1284-1293
- Barrena R, d'Imporzano G, Ponsá S, Gea T, Artola A, Vázquez F, Sánchez

A, **Adani F** (2009) In search of a reliable technique for the determination of the biological stability of the organic matter in the mechanical-biological treated waste. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* **162**, 1065-1072

- Barrington S, Choinière D, Trigui M, Knight W (2002) Effect of carbon source on compost nitrogen and carbon losses. *Bioresource Technology* 83, 189-194
- Beck-Friis B, Smars S, Eklind Y, Jonsson H, Kirchmann H (2003) Gaseous emissions of carbon dioxide, ammonia and nitrous oxide from organic household waste in a compost reactor under different temperature regimes. *Compost Science and Utilization* 11, 41-50
- Benito M, Masaguer A, Moliner A, Arrigo N, Palma RS (2003) Chemical and microbiological parameters for the characterization of the stabilizing and maturing of pruning waste compost. *Biology and Fertility of Soils* 37, 184-189
- Benito M, Masaguer A, Moliner A, Arrigo N, Palma RM, Effron D (2005) Evaluation of maturity and stability of pruning waste compost and their effect on carbon and nitrogen mineralization in soil. *Soil Science* **170**, 360-370
- Bernal MP, Paredes C, Sánchez-Monedero MA, Cegarra J (1998) Maturity and stability parameters of composts prepared with a wide range of organic wastes. *Bioresource Technology* **63**, 91-99
- Blanco MJ, Almendros G (1994) maturity assessment of wheat-straw composts by thermogravimetric analysis. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* **42**, 2454-2459
- **Boulter JI, Boland GJ, Trevors JT** (2000) Compost: A study of the development process and end-product potential for suppression of turfgrass disease. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology* **16**, 115-134
- Bustamante MA, Paredes C, Marhuenda-Egea FC, Pérez-Espinosa A, Bernal MP, Moral R (2008) Co-composting of distillery wastes with animal manures: Carbon and nitrogen transformations in the evaluation of compost stability. *Chemosphere* **72**, 551-557
- Buurman P, Van Lagen B, Piccolo A (2002) Increase in stability against thermal oxidation of soil humic substances as a result of self association. Organic Geochemistry 33, 367-381
- Carballo T, Gil MV, Gómez X, González-Andrés F, Morán A (2008) Characterization of different compost extracts using Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) and thermal analysis. *Biodegradation* 19, 815-830
- Castaldi P, Garau G, Melis P (2004) Influence of compost from sea weeds on heavy metal dynamics in the soil–plant system. *Fresenius Environmental Bulletin* 13, 1322-1328
- Castaldi P, Alberti G, Merella R, Melis P (2005) Study of the organic matter evolution during municipal solid waste composting aimed at identifying suitable parameters for the evaluation of compost maturity. *Waste Management* 25, 209-213
- Castaldi P, Garau G, Melis P (2008) Maturity assessment of compost from municipal solid waste through the study of enzyme activities and water-soluble fractions. *Waste Management* 28, 534-540
- Chefetz B, Adani F, Genevini P, Tambone F, Hadar Y, Chen Y (1998a) Humic-acid transformation during composting of municipal solid waste. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 27, 794-800
- Chefetz B, Hatcher PG, Hadar Y, Chen YN (1998b) Characterization of dissolved organic matter extracted from composted municipal solid waste. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 62, 326-332
- Chen Y, Inbar Y, Hadar Y, Malcolm RL (1989) Chemical properties and solid-state CPMAS 13C-NMR of composted organic matter. *Science of the Total Environment* 81-82, 201-208
- Chen Y, Inbar Y (1993) Chemical and spectroscopical analyses of organic matter transformations during composting in relation to compost maturity. In: Hoitink HAJ, Keeneer HM (Eds) Science and Engineering of Composting: Design, Environmental, Microbiological and Utilization Aspects, Renaissance Publications, Worthington, Ohio, USA, pp 551-600
- Chen YN (2003) Nuclear magnetic resonance, infra-red and pyrolysis: Application of spectroscopic methodologies to maturity determination of composts. *Compost Science and Utilization* 11, 152-168
- Ciavatta C, Govi M, Vittori Antisari L, Sequi P (1990) Characterization of humified compounds by extraction and fractionation on solid polyvinylpyrrolidone. *Journal of Cromatography* 509, 141-146
- **Council Directive of the European Union** (1999/31/EC) of 26 April 1999 on the landfill of waste
- Cooperband LR, Stone AG, Fryda MR, Ravet JL (2003) Relating compost measures of stability and maturity to plant growth. *Compost Science and Utilization* 11, 113-124
- Cunha-Queda AC, Ribeiro HM, Ramos A, Cabral F (2007) Study of biochemical and microbiological parameters during composting of pine and eucalyptus bark. *Bioresource Technology* 98, 3213-3220
- de Bertoldi M, Vallini G, Pera A (1983) The biology of composting: a review. Waste Management and Research 1, 157-176
- De Gioannis G, Muntoni A (2007) Dynamic transformations of nitrogen during mechanical–biological pre-treatment of municipal solid waste. *Waste Management* 27, 1479-1485
- Dell'Abate MT, Benedetti A, Sequi P (2000) Thermal methods of organic matter maturation monitoring during a composting process. *Journal of Ther*-

mal Analysis and Calorimetry 61, 389-396

- Eggen T, Vethe O (2001) Stability indices for different composts. Compost Science and Utilization 9, 19-26
- El Hajjouji H, Bailly JR, Winterton P, Merlina G, Revel JC, Hafidi M (2008) Chemical and spectroscopic analysis of olive mill waste water during a biological treatment. *Bioresource Technology* **99**, 4958-4965
- **European Commission** (2001) Working Document "Biological Treatment of Biowaste" 2nd draft. 12th February 2001 (DG ENV.A.2/LM/biowaste/2nd draft).
- Fuchs JG (2002) Practical use of quality compost for plant health and viability improvement. In: Insam H, Riddech N, Klammer S (Eds) *Microbiology of Composting*, Springer Verlag, Heidelberg, pp 435-444
- Gajalakshmi S, Abbasi SA (2008) Solid Waste Management by Composting: State of the Art. Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology 38, 311-400
- García C, Hernández T, Costa F (1991) Study on water extract of sewage– sludge composts. Soil Science and Plant Nutrition 37, 399-408
- García C, Hernández T (1992) Comparison of humic acids derived from city refuse with more developed humic acids. *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition* 38, 339-346
- García C, Hernández T, Costa F, Ceccanti B, Ciardi C (1992a) Changes in ATP content, enzyme activity and inorganic nitrogen species during composting of organic wastes. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science* **72**, 243-253
- García C, Hernández T, Costa F, Ceccanti B, Polo A (1992b) A comparative chemical-structural study of fossil humic acids and those extracted from urban wastes. *Resources Conservation and Recycling* **6**, 231-240
- Genevini PL, Adani F, Veeken AHM, Scaglia B (2002) Evolution of humic and core-humic during high-rate composting of pig faeces amended with wheat straw. *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition* **48**, 143-150
- Geyer W, Hemidi FAH, Bruggemann L, Hanschmann G (2000) Investigation of soil humic substances from different environments using TG-FTIR and multivariate data analysis *Thermochimica Acta* **361**, 139-146
- Giusti L (2009) A review of waste management practices and their impact on human health. Waste Management 29, 2227-2239
- Gómez-Brandon M, Lazcano C, Domínguez J (2008) The evaluation of stability and maturity during the composting of cattle manure. *Chemosphere* 70, 436-444
- Gónzales FJ, Almendros G, Madrid F (1999) Molecular alterations of organic fraction from urban waste in the course of composting and their further transformation in amended soil. *Science of the Total Environment* **236**, 215-229
- Goodfellow M, Williams ST (1983) Ecology of Actinomycetes. Annual Review of Microbiology 37, 189-216
- Goyal S, Dhull SK, Kapoor KK (2005) Chemical and biological changes during composting of different organic wastes and assessment of compost maturity. *Bioresource Technology* 96, 1584-1591
- Grigatti M, Ciavatta C, Gessa C (2004) Evolution of organic matter from sewage sludge and garden trimming during composting. *Bioresource Technology* 91, 163-169
- Hafidi M, Amir S, Revel JC (2005) Structural characterization of olive mill waster-water after aerobic digestion using elemental analysis, FTIR and 13C NMR. *Process Biochemistry* 40, 2615-2622
- Hayes MHB, MacCarthy P, Malcolm RL (1989) The search for structure: Setting the scene. In: Hayes MHB, MacCarthy P, Malcolm RL Swift RS (Eds) *Humic Substances II–In Search of Structure*, Wiley Interscience, Chichester, pp 3-32
- Hellmann B, Zelles L, Palojarvi A, Bai Q (1997) Emission of climate-relevant trace gases and succession of microbial communities during open-windrow composting. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 63, 1011-1018
- Hernández T, Masciandaro G, Moreno JI, García C (2006) Changes in organic matter composition during composting of two digested sewage sludges. *Waste Management* 26, 1370-1376
- Hoitink HAJ, Stone AG, Han DY (1997) Suppression of plant disease by composts. *HortScience* 32, 184-187
- Hsu JH, Lo SL (1999) Recycling of separated pig manure: characterization of maturity and chemical fractionation of elements during composting. *Water Science and Technology* 40, 121-127
- Huang GF, Wong JWC, Wu QT, Nagar BB (2004) Effect of C/N on composting of pig manure with sawdust. *Waste Management* 24, 805-813
- Hue NV, Liu J (1995) Predicting compost stability. Compost Science and Utilization 3, 8-15
- Iannotti DA, Pang T, Toth BL, Elwell DL, Keener HM, Hoitink HAJ (1993) A quantitative respirometric method for monitoring compost stability. *Compost Science and Utilization* 1, 52-65
- Inbar Y, Chen Y, Hadar Y (1989) Solid state carbon-13 nuclear magnetic resonance and infrared spectroscopy of composted organic matter. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 53, 1695-1701
- Inbar Y, Chen Y, Hadar Y (1991) Carbon-13 CPMAS NMR and FTIR spectroscopic analysis of organic matter transformations during composting of solid wastes from Wineries. *Soil Science* **152**, 272-282
- Inbar Y, Hadar Y, Chen Y (1992) Characterization of humic substances formed during the composting of solid wastes from wineries. *Science of the*

Total Environment 113, 35-48

- Jouraiphy A, Amir S, El Gharous M, Revel JC, Hafidi M (2008) Structural study of fulvic acids during the composting of activated sludge plant matter: Elemental analysis, FTIR and ¹³C NMR. *Bioresource Technology* 99, 1066-1072
- Komilis DP, Tziouvaras IS (2009) A statistical analysis to assess the maturity and stability of six composts. *Waste Management* 29, 1504-1513
- Lhadi EK, Tazi H, Aylaj M, Genevini PL, Adani F (2006) Organic matter evolution during co-composting of the organic fraction of municipal waste and poultry manure. *Bioresource Technology* 97, 2117-2123
- Lorenz K, Preston CM, Raspe S, Morrison IK, Feger KH (2000) Litter decomposition and humus characteristics in Canadian and German spruce ecosystems: information from tannin analysis and ¹³C-CPMAS NMR. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 32, 779-792
- MacCarthy P, Clapp CE, Malcolm RL, Bloom PR (1990) An introduction to soil humic substances. In: MacCarthy P, Clapp CE, Malcolm RL, Bloom PR (Eds) *Humic Substances in Soil and Crop Sciences: Selected Reading*, American Society of Agronomy, Madison, pp 1-12
- MacCarthy P (2001) The principles of humic substances. Soil Science 166, 738-751
- Margesin R, Cimadom J, Schinner F (2006) Biological activity during composting of sewage sludge at low temperatures. *International Biodeterioration* and Biodegradation 57, 88-92
- Marhuenda-Egea FC, Martínez-Sabater E, Jordá J, Sánchez-Sánchez A, Moral R, Bustamante MA, Paredes C, Pérez Murcia MD (2007) Evaluation of the aerobic compostino process of winery and distillery residues by thermal methods. *Thermochimica Acta* **454**, 35-143
- Martin O, Dewes T (1992) Loss of nitrogenous compounds during composting of animal wastes. *Bioresource Technology* 42, 103-111
- Mathur SP, Owen G, Dinel H, Schnitzer M (1993) Determination of compost biomaturity 1. Literature-Review. *Biological Agriculture and Horticulture* 10, 65-85
- McKinley VL, Vestal JR, Eralp AE (1985) Microbial activity in composting: part I. *Biocycle* 26, 39-43
- Meissl K, Smidt E, Schwanninger M (2007) Prediction of humic acid content and respiration activity of biogenic waste by means of Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectra and partial least squares regression (PLS-R) models. *Talanta* 72, 791-799
- Melis P, Castaldi P (2004) Thermal analysis for the evaluation of the organic matter during municipal solid waste aerobic composting process. *Thermochi*mica Acta 413, 209-214
- Mikki V, Senesi N, Hanninen K (1997) Characterization of humic material formed by composting of domestic and industrial biowastes. *Chemosphere* 34, 1639-1651
- Mondini C, Farnasier F, Sinicco T (2004) Enzymatic activity as a parameter for the characterization of the composting process. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 36, 1587-1594
- Namkoong W, Hwang EY, Cheong JG, Choi JY (1999) A comparative evaluation of maturity parameters for food waste composting. *Compost Science* and Utilization 7, 55-62
- Nannipieri P, Ceccanti B, Cervelli S, Matarese E (1980) Extraction of phosphatase, urease, protease, organic carbon and nitrogen from soil. Soil Science Society of American Journal 44, 1011-1016
- Nannipieri P, Kandeler E, Ruggiero P (2002) Enzyme activities and microbiological and biochemical processes in soil. In: Burns RG, Dick RP (Eds) *Enzymes in the Environment: Activity, Ecology and Applications*, Dekker, New York, pp 1-33
- **OECD** (2008) OECD Key Environmental Indicators 2008. OECD Environment Directorate, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), Paris, France
- Otero M, Calvo LF, Estrada B, Garcia AI, Moràn A (2002) Thermogravimetry as a technique for establishing the stabilization progress of sludge from wastewater treatment plants. *Thermochimica Acta* **389**, 121-132
- Ouatmane A, Provenzano MR, Hafidi M, Senesi N (2000) Compost maturity assessment using calorimetry, spectroscopy and chemical analysis. *Compost Science and Utilization* 8, 124-134
- Outmane A, D'Orazio V, Hafidi M, Senesi N (2002) Chemical and physicochemical characterization of humic acid-like materials from compost. *Compost Science and Utilization* 10, 39-46
- Piccolo A (1996) Humus and soil conservation. In: Piccolo A (Ed) Humic Substances in Terrestrial Ecosystems, Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, pp 225-264
- Piccolo A, Conte P (1999) Molecular size of humic substances. Supramolecular associations versus macromolecular polymers. Advances in Environmental Research 3, 508-521
- Piccolo A (2002) The supramolecular structure of humic substances: a novel understanding of humus chemistry and implications in soil science. Advances in Agronomy 75, 57-134
- Provenzano MR, Senesi N, Piccone G (1998) Thermal and spectroscopic characterization of composts from municipal solid wastes. *Compost Science and Utilization* 6, 67-73

- Provenzano MR, Ouatmane A, Hafidi M, Senesi N (2000) Differential scanning calorimetric analysis of composted materials from different sources. *Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry* **61**, 607-614
- Provenzano MR, de Oliveira SC, Silva MRS, Senesi N (2001) Assessment of maturity degree of composts from domestic solid wastes by fluorescence and Fourier transform infrared spectroscopies. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 49, 5874-5879
- Raut MP, Prince William SPM, Bhattacharyya JK, Chakrabarti T, Devotta S (2008) Microbial dynamics and enzyme activities during rapid composting of municipal solid waste - A compost maturity analysis perspective. *Biore*source Technology 99, 6512-6519
- Roletto E, Barberis R, Consiglio M, Jodice R (1985) Chemical parameters for evaluating compost maturity. *BioCycle* 26, 46-47
- Ros M, García C, Hernández T (2006) A full-scale study of treatment of pig slurry by composting kinetic changes in chemical and microbial properties. *Waste Management* 26, 1108-1118
- Said-Pullicino D, Erriquens FG, Gigliotti G (2007) Changes in the chemical characteristics of water-extractable organic matter during composting and their influence on compost stability and maturity. *Bioresource Technology* 98, 1822-1831
- Said-Pullicino D, Gigliotti G (2007) Oxidative biodegradation of dissolved organic matter during composting. *Chemosphere* 68, 1030-1040
- Sánchez A (2007) A kinetic analysis of solid waste composting at optimal conditions. Waste Management 27, 854-855
- Sánchez-Monedero MA, Roig A, Cegarra J, Bernal MP (1999) Relationships between water-soluble carbohydrate and phenol fractions and the humification indices of different organic wastes during composting. *Bioresource Technology* **70**, 193-201
- Sánchez-Monedero MA, Roig A, Paredes C, Bernal MP (2001) Nitrogen transformation during organic waste composting by the Rutgers system and its effect on pH, EC and maturity of the composting mixtures. *Bioresource Technology* 78, 301-308
- Sánchez-Monedero MA, Cegarra J, García D, Roig A (2002) Chemical and structural evolution of humic acids during organic waste composting. *Biodegradation* 13, 361-371
- Schnitzer M, Dinel H, Schulten HR, Paré T, Lafond S (2000) Humification of duck farm wastes. In: Ghabour EA, Davies G (Eds) *Humic Substances: Versatile Components of Plants, Soil and Water*, The Royal Society of Chemistry, pp 20-34
- Senesi N (1989) Composted materials as organic fertilisers. The Science of the Total Environment 81, 521-542
- Senesi N, Miano TM, Brunetti G (1996) Humic substances in organic amendments and effects on native soil humic substances. In: Piccolo A (Ed) Humic Substances in Terrestrial Ecosystems, Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 531-593
- Senesi N, Plaza C, Brunetti G, Polo A (2007) A comparative survey of recent results on humic-like fractions in organic amendments and effects on native soil humic substances. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 39, 1244-1262
- Smidt E, Lechner P (2005) Study on the degradation and stabilization of organic matter in waste by means of thermal analyses. *Thermochimica Acta* 438, 22-28
- Smidt E, Meissl K (2007) The applicability of Fourier transform infrared (FT-IR) spectroscopy in waste management. Waste Management 27, 268-276
- Smidt E, Tintner J (2007) Application of differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) to evaluate the quality of compost organic matter. *Thermochimica Acta* 459, 87-93
- Spaccini R, Piccolo A (2007) Molecular characterization of compost at increasing stages of maturity. 2. Thermochemolysis-GC-MS and 13C-CPMAS-NMR spectroscopy. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 55, 2303-2311
- Spaccini R, Piccolo A (2008) Spectroscopic characterization of compost at different maturity stages. Clean-Soil Air Water 36, 152-157
- Stevenson FJ (1994) Humus Chemistry: Genesis, Composition, Reactions (2rd Edn), Wiley, NY, 496 pp
- Swift RS (1989) Molecular weight, size, shape, and charge characteristics of humic substances: some basic considerations. In: Hayes MHB, MacCarthy P, Malcom RL, Swift RS (Eds) *Humic Substances II. In Search of a Structure*, Wiley, Chichester, pp 449-466
- Tiquia SM, Tam NFY (2000) Fate of nitrogen during compositing of chicken litter. Environmental Pollution 110, 535-541
- Tiquia SM (2005) Microbiological parameters as indicators of compost maturity. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* **99**, 816-828
- Tognetti C, Mazzarino MJ, Laos F (2007) Improving the quality of municipal organic waste compost. *Bioresource Technology* 98, 1067-1076
- Tomati U, Madejón E, Galli E (2000) Evolution of humic acid molecular weight as an index of compost stability. *Compost Science and Utilization* 8, 108-115
- Tuomela M, Vikman M, Hatakka A, Itävaara M (2000) Biodegradation of lignin in a compost environment: A review. *Bioresource Technology* 72, 169-183
- Veeken A, Hamelers B (2002) Sources of Cd, Cu, Pb and Zn in biowaste. Science of the Total Environment 300, 87-98

- Wang CM, Changa CM, Watson ME, Dick WA, Chen Y, Hoitink HAJ (2004) Maturity indices of composted dairy and pig manures. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 36, 767-776
- Wei ZM, Xi BD, Wang SP, Xu JG, Zhou YY, Liu HH (2008) Study on threedimensional fluorescence spectroscopy characteristics of humic acid during composting with microbes inoculation. *Spectroscopy and Spectral Analysis* 28, 2895-2899
- Wilson WS (1991) Advances in Soil Organic Matter Research: the Impact on Agriculture and the Environment, The Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge, UK, 410 pp
- Wu L, Ma LQ, Martinez GA (2000) Comparison of methods for evaluating stability and maturity of biosolids compost. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 29, 424-429
- Zmora-Nahum S, Markovitcha O, Tarchitzky J, Chen Y (2005) Dissolved organic carbon (DOC) as a parameter of compost maturity. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 37, 2109-2116
- Zucconi F, de Bertoldi M (1987) Compost specifications for the production and characterization of compost from municipal solid waste. In: de Bertoldi M, Ferranti MP, L'Hermite P, Zucconi F (Eds) *Compost: Production, Quality and Use*, Elsevier Applied Science, Essex, pp 30-50